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U.S. Departnent of Labor, Nashville, Tennessee, for
the Petitioner;

David R Joest, Esq., Peabody Coal Conpany,
Hender son, Kentucky, for the Respondent.

Bef or e: Judge Bar bour:
STATEMENT OF THE CASE

These civil penalty cases were initiated by the Secretary of
Labor ("Secretary") agai nst Peabody Coal Conpany ("Peabody")
pursuant to Sections 105 and 110 of the Federal M ne Safety and
Heal th Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. O 815 and O 820. In Docket No.
KENT 92-42 the Secretary charges Peabody with two viol ati ons of
mandat ory safety standards for underground coal mnes found at
Part 75, Volune 30 of the Code of Federal Regulations. |In Docket
No. KENT 92-56 the Secretary charges Peabody with one such
violation. |In Docket No. KENT 92-65 the Secretary charges
Peabody with two Part 75 violations and with one violation of the
mandatory notification and reporting standards found at Part 50,
Vol unme 30 of the Code of Federal Regul ations.

The violations in Docket No. KENT 92-42 are alleged to have
occurred at Peabody's Canp No. 11 M ne. The other violations are
all eged to have occurred at Peabody's Martwi ck M ne. Peabody
timely answered the Secretary's penalty proposals and the cases
were consolidated for hearing. At the hearing the parties
presented their positions through the testinmony of w tnesses and
t hrough docunentary evidence. Following the trial both counsels
subnmitted hel pful briefs, which | have fully considered in
reachi ng this decision.
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SETTLEMENT AGREEMENTS
DOCKET NO. KENT 92-42

The parties agreed to settle one of the violations at issue
in Docket No. KENT 92-42. Citation No. 3548678 was issued
pursuant to Section 104(a) of the Act, 30 U. S. C 0 8l14(a), and
alleges a violation of 30 CF. R 0O 75.316, a mandatory safety
standard requiring an operator to adopt and conply with a
ventilation system and net hane and dust control plan approved by
the Secretary. The citation states that Peabody was not
conplying with its approved plan in that curtains controlling
ventilation were not installed and maintained in a reasonably
airtight condition. The parties agreed the evidence woul d show
that the curtains were properly installed. They al so agreed,
however, that the inspector was right in finding the curtains
were not properly maintained following installation. The parties
further agreed that the violation was not a significant and
substantial contribution to a mne safety hazard (a " S&S"
violation), that an injury was unlikely to occur as a result of
the violation and that Peabody exhi bited noderate negligence in
regard to the violation. A $20 civil penalty was proposed for
the violation, which the parties stated would be appropriate.

DOCKET NO KENT 92-56

The parties agreed to settle the sole violation at issue in
Docket No. KENT 92-56. Section 104(a) Citation No. 3551054
alleges a violation of 30 CF. R 0O 75.507, a mandatory safety
standard requiring, except where perm ssible power connection
units are used, that all power connection points outby the |ast
open crosscut be located in intake air. The citation states that
a battery charging station containing four energized chargers was
located in return air, five crosscuts outby the face. G ven the
fact that Peabody's evidence would show that it had built a
tent-like structure around the charging station to separate the
station for return air, the parties agreed that an injury was
unlikely to occur as a result of the violation and that the

vi ol ati on was non-S&S. They further agreed that at the tine the
violation was cited, Peabody was in the process of changing the
ventilation routing in the vicinity of the violation and that the
viol ati on was due to Peabody's nopderate negligence. They also
agreed that a civil penalty of $227 woul d be appropriate.

DOCKET NO. KENT 92-65

The parties agreed to settle two of the three violations
al l eged in Docket No. KENT 92-65. Section 104(a) Citation No.
3416929 alleges a violation of 30 C.F. R 0O 75.1710-1, a mandatory
safety standard requiring installation and use of canopies and
cabs on all self-propelled electric face equi pnment. The citation
states that the inspector observed a roof bolting nmachine
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operator who was tramming a roof bolting machine but who was not
under a canopy. The parties agreed that the violation was due to
the operator's negligence. However, because the roof bolting
machi ne operator was tramr ng the machi ne under fully supported
roof which showed no signs of fault, they believed there was but
a renote possibility of an accident. Therefore, they agreed that
the violation was non-S&S. The parties also agreed that a civi
penalty of $192 would be appropriate.

Section 104(a) Citation No. 3548448 alleges a violation of
30 C.F.R 0O 75.1107-16(b), a mandatory safety standard pertaining
to the proper testing and nai ntenance of fire suppression
devices. The citation states that the fire suppression system on
a scoop was inoperative because of a torn hose. The parties
agreed that the violation was the result of the operator's
negli gence but that it was non-S&S. They asserted that in the
event of a fire an alternative fire suppression hose attached to
the scoop could easily have been detached and used as fire
fighting equipnent. The parties further agreed that a civi
penalty of $126 would be appropriate.

SETTLEMENT APPROVAL

In light of the facts as stated by the parties, as well as
the other relevant statutory penalty criteria set forth in the
parties joint notions to approve the settlenments, | conclude the
proposed settlenents are in the public interest and shoul d be
approved. | wll incorporate the terms of the settlenents into
my ORDER at the end of this Decision

CONTESTED VI OLATI ONS

There remained for trial one alleged violation in Docket No.
KENT 92-42 and one alleged violation in KENT 92-65.

KENT 92-42
M ne Act
Section Citation No. Dat e 30 CF.R
Section 104(a) 3551088 07/ 18/ 91 O 75. 202

STI PULATI ONS

Prior to the hearing the parties submtted for inclusion in
record the follow ng stipulations:

1. The M ne Safety and Heal th Revi ew Comm ssi on
and its adm nistrative |aw judges have
jurisdiction to entertain the instant case
and to enter a decision in the sane.
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2. Peabody Coal Conpany and its Canmp No. 11 M ne
are subject to the Federal Mne Safety and
Heal th Act of 1977.

3. The controlling entity, Peabody Coal Conpany,
produced eighty four mllion six hundred
ei ghty nine thousand nine hundred and two
(84,689,902) tons of coal during the cal endar
year 1991.

4, Camp No. 11 M ne of Peabody Coal Conpany
produced fifty thousand seven hundred and
thirty nine (50,739) tons of coal

5. The violation history for the subject mne is
15 assessed violations during the course of
96 i nspection days.

Parties' Joint Stipulation of Fact 1-2.
Dl SCUSSI ON

The citation at issue arose out of an inspection of the
No. 2 Unit at Peabody's Canp No. 11 M ne by personnel of the M ne
Safety and Health Adm nistration ("MSHA"). The unit, which had
only recently turned off of the main entry, was being mned with
a continuous mning machine. MSHA |Inspector Harold Gamin, who
had begun a regular quarterly inspection of the nmine in early
July 1991, becane concerned about the condition of the roof on
the unit. Gamin's concern lead himto consult wi th MSHA roof
control specialist Larry Cunni ngham anong others. Cunni ngham
was sent to the mine with Gamlin and others and issued the
subj ect Section 104(a) citation alleging that Peabody viol ated
30 CF.R 0O 75.202 by failing to control the roof to protect
persons from hazards relating to falls of the roof.(Footnote 1)
Subsequently, the Secretary proposed a civil penalty of $174 for
the violation. Peabody answered that the violation as charged
had not in fact occurred.

The citation states:

The operator has failed to control the roof
to protect persons fromthe hazards rel ated

130 CF. R 0O 75.202 states:

(a) The roof, face and ribs of areas where persons work or trave
shal | be supported or otherwi se controlled to protect persons from hazards
related to falls of the roof, face or ribs and coal or rock burst.

(b) No person shall work or travel under unsupported roof unless in
accordance with this subpart.
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to falls of the roof. This mine has had 11 roof falls
since May 6, 1991. The falls are centrally located on
the mne map and are in a valley which is posing poor
roof conditions The operator is trying different steps
to control the roof such as decreasing the w dth of
the entries on No. 2 unit from20' to 18 and
decreasing the wi de opening to 24' and not 28'[,] five
roof bolts are being installed in a row instead of
four. Tine is allowed for abatenent to further
eval uate these steps taken by the operator

G Exh. 5.

In addition to alleging a violation of Section 75.202 Cunni ngham al so
found that the violation was S&S, that injuries resulting in |ost workdays and
restricted duty were reasonably |likely to occur and that the violation was due
to Peabody's noderate negligence. The sole issue at trial was whether the
vi ol ati on occurred.

THE SECRETARY' S W TNESSES

MSHA | nspector Gamin testified that he began a regular quarterly
i nspection of the mne on July 3, 1991. On that date the m ne had one
operating unit developing the main entry and work was begi nning on starting a
second unit, the No. 2 Unit. This unit was turning off the main entry.

I nspector Ganmlin stated that prior to inspecting the mne he exam ned
MSHA records pertaining thereto and noticed reports of roof falls in the main
entry. He described the roof in the main entry as | ooking "very fragile" on
the first day of his inspection. Tr. 78. He further stated that when he
i nspected the No. 2 Unit, the roof there also | ooked "very fragile." Tr. 78.

Gamlin stated that on July 17, 1992, during an inspection of the No. 2
Unit, he found that sonme of the entries on the unit exceeded the 20 feet width
al l oned under the roof control plan, and he issued a citation for a violation
of Section 75.220, the mandatory safety standard requiring mne operators to
adopt and follow a roof control plan approved by the Secretary. Tr. 79-80
(Foot note 2)

2The citation states:

The roof control plan was not being followed in the No. 2 Unit . . . The
South East Nos. 4 and 6, No. 2 Unit was driven in excess of 21 feet
approximately 70 feet outby the working face inby the second open crosscut.
The roof control plan states the entries shall be driven 20 feet in width. A
roof fall had occurred in No. 7 entry at engineer spad 1 + 40 third open
crosscut out by working
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Gamin testified that his concern about the roof conditions
led himto speak about controlling the roof with mne officials, including
Dougl as Rowl ans, the mine superintendent, and Paul Sparks, the m ne safety
manager. Gamlin believed better control could be obtained by using 4-foot,
fully-grouted roof bolts, rather than the 6-foot, point anchor bolts then in
use. According to Ganlin, Row ans expl ai ned that his supervisors would not
allow himto use fully-grouted roof bolts. Tr. 81-82 (Footnote 3) Ganlin
further testified that on July 17 he called WIIiam Dupree, an MSHA supervi sor
and roof control specialist, and they discussed the roof conditions that
Gam in had observed. Tr. 85. The conversation lead to a subsequent m ne
visit by Gamin, Cunningham and Dupree. At the mine, Gamlin spoke with
Row ans and Sparks, as well as with David Fuson, a mine foreman, and told them
that because of his concern about the roof he had felt the need to ask the
MSHA roof control specialists to assist him
Tr. 90-91.

The MSHA personnel then went underground, acconpani ed by Peabody
representatives. During their time underground, Gamin, who was observing the
pattern of the roof bolts, measured two places on the unit where roof bolts
were spaced 10 feet apart rather than five feet as required by the roof
control plan. Gamin therefore cited Peabody for another violation of
Section 75.220. (Footnote 4)

Gamlin testified that on July 18, he did not observe any practices over
and above those required by the roof control plan that were being used by
Peabody to try to better control the roof (Tr. 92) and that he, Cunni ngham and
Dupree di scussed with Row an, Sparks and Fuson, the additional steps that the
MSHA personnel believed Peabody should be inplenenting. These steps

2(...continued)
face.

G Exh. 3.

3Sparks, testified the decision to forego the use of the fully-grouted bolts
was made by one of Rowl an's bosses who believed the 6-foot, point anchor bolts
were the best bolts on the market and who wanted to continue themin use.

Tr. 214-216.

4The citation states:

The roof control plan was not being followed on the No. 2 Unit . . . in that a
pin in the crosscut between entry No. 4 and 5 when nmeasured was 10 feet apart
and one pin in the | ast open crosscut of No. 4 entry when nmeasured was 10 feet
apart.

G Exh. 4
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i ncluded the need to narrow the width of the entries to 18 feet, to add
additional roof bolts to the bolting pattern, and the possible use of truss
roof bolts in some instances.

Tr. 91-92, 95-96, 100-101. (As Gamlin recalled, the Peabody personnel agreed
to narrow the entries. Ganmlin could not recall whether there was any
agreenent about roof bolt spacing.

Tr. 107.) Gamin believed that all of these things should have been done by

Peabody before July 18 -- indeed, in his opinion they should have been done
when the No. 2 Unit was first
turned -- because Peabody knew that it had encountered adverse roof conditions

prior to starting the No. 2 Unit and that procedures required by the roof
control plan were ineffective in controlling these conditions. Tr. 120.

Cunni ngham a MsSHA roof control specialist, stated that Gamlin had
called himon Friday, July 12 and said that he needed Cunni ngham s assi stance
with roof control problens at the mne. On the follow ng Monday, July 15,
Cunni ngham di scussed Gamlin's request with his supervisor, Dupree, and told
Gamin that he and Dupree would conme to the mine later in the week. On July
18, Cunni ngham and Dupree net Gamlin at the mine. Cunningham stated the MSHA
personnel went underground and forned an inspection party with the Peabody
representatives, including anong others, Row ans, Sparks and Larry Stanley, a
Peabody forenman.

Cunni ngham descri bed the conditions that he found on the unit.
Cunni ngham stated that he noticed an area where a roof fall had occurred.
Al t hough the fall had been cleaned up, the brows were not properly supported
in that | oose rock renmai ned around the brows. He also recalled seeing an
overcast area, approximately 100 feet in length, where the entry width of 22
to 23 feet exceeded the 20 feet width allowed by the approved roof contro
plan. He stated that in addition to these areas,
he believed that there were two | ocations where Inspector Gamlin found the
spaci ng of the roof bolts to be too wi de and where inproper grouting was used
when installing the bolts.
Tr. 129-130. Cunni ngham went on to describe the "adverse roof conditions"
that, in his opinion, were causing the roof control difficulties.

The . . . shale roof was causing a | ot of problens
with . . . bolting that they were using . . . It was
not consistent using header bolts on the roof to try
to alleviate sonme of the shale rock falling out
between the bolts. And also . . . there was sone

ti mbers that was scattered in the areas that would
have served a whole | ot better purpose if they had
been set properly, but they was just |lying on the
ground.

Tr. 130-131.
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Cunni ngham stated his belief that Section 75.220 requires an operator to
devel op and follow a roof control plan suitable to the nmine but that the roof
control plan is a mnimm plan and that roof conditions may require an
operator to take protective roof control neasures additional to those nandated
by the plan. Cunni ngham noted that Section 75.202 requires an operator at al
times to control the roof, face and ribs of areas where mners are required to

work or travel. Tr. 132-133. Because there had been el even reported roof
falls in two nonths and three reported roof fall injuries on the unit, as wel
as because he had observed "l oose shale falling out between bolts . . . wde
pl aces being nmned, and . . . bolt spaces being too w de", he believed Peabody

was not protecting persons working on the unit fromthe hazards of roof falls.
Tr. 132. (Cunningham stated that he had with him copies of the accident
reports when he went to the mine on July 18 and in addition that he was told
at the mine by a union safety conm tteeman about the roof fall injuries that
had occurred on the No. 2 Unit. Tr. 172-173.) Cunni nghamtherefore cited
Peabody for a violation of Section 75.202.

Al t hough he wrote on the citation form "The operator is trying
different steps to control the roof such as decreasing the wi dth of the
entries on the No. 2 Unit from20' to 18 and decreasing the w de opening to
24" and not 28'. Five roof bolts are being installed in a row i nstead of
four" (G Exh. 5), Cunni ngham was adamant that these steps were not being
i npl emrented at the time he issued the citation but rather were what Peabody
agreed to do after the section had been inspected by the inspection party. He
stated that he included the statenent on the citation formin order to justify
gi ving Peabody a week to abate the alleged violation. Tr. 135-136, See al so
Tr. 156. Cunni ngham mai ntai ned that the additional roof control procedures he
described were agreed to as the result of discussions between hinmsel f, Dupree,
Gam in, Paul Sparks, the safety director, Jimy Howard, the section foreman,
Doug Rowl ans, the m ne superintendent, and Larry Stanley, the m ne foreman.
Tr. 135-136. Cunni ngham asserted that on July 18 he observed nothing to
i ndi cate Peabody had undertaken anythi ng beyond the requirenents of the roof
control plan to control the roof. Tr. 145, 162. On July 18 he neasured the
width of the entries six or seven times and he found no entries that measured
18 feet or narrower. Further, he neasured the spacing of some of the roof
bolts. He found no instances in which the roof bolt pattern consisted of five
bolts across rather than four. Had he found that the entries had been
narrowed to 18 feet and the bolting pattern had been tightened, he would have
had no reason to issue the citation. Tr. 291-293.
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Cunni ngham testified that Rowl ans told himthat the unit was being m ned
ina "bow" (by this Cunni ngham understood Row ans to nmean "an area where the
surface is indented and therefore you woul d have | ess overburden in the area
under ground where they were mning" Tr. 144) and that once out of the "bow"
Row ans expected the roof conditions to inprove. 1d.

Wth regard to Peabody's negligence in allow ng the violation of Section
75.202 to exist, Cunningham believed Peabody to be guilty of noderate
negl i gence rather than hi gh negligence. Cunningham believed that with the
nunber of roof falls that had occurred, Peabody shoul d have been aware it
needed to do nore to protect its mners fromthe dangers of the roof (Tr. 166)
and that "the conpany had the neans there to correct the conditions.” Tr.
143.

W 1liam Dupree, a MSHA roof control supervisor, testified that Row ans
told himthe conpany had hired two geol ogists to evaluate the subject roof
conditions and that they had told Row ans that the area in which the poor
roof occurred was an old washout. After reviewing a mne map (G Exh. 10),
Dupree testified that the No. 2 Unit was enconpassed by this washout or
"bow ." Tr. 198, See also G Exh. 10 (areas marked by Dupree in blue and
green). Wth regard to whet her any precautions over and above those required
by the roof control plan had been taken by Peabody prior to July 18, Dupree
testified that although one of the roof fall reports tel ephoned to MSHA on
June 12, 1991, indicated that the conpany had "Called in 2 Roof Specialists,
Narrowed Entry Wdth - Tightened Bolt Pattern" (G Exh. 7 at 4), on July 18 he
did not see any evidence the width of the entries had been narrowed to |ess
than the 20 feet required by the roof control plan. Tr. 204-205. \When asked

how wi de the entries were, Dupree stated, "l hel ped Cunni ngham neasure sone
[of the entries]. Sone of themwere 22 to 23 feet wide and that would be 3 or
2 feet nore than what the plan called for under normal circunmstances.” Tr.

205. He also stated his understanding that Gamlin had neasured two areas
where the roof bolts were as nuch as 10 feet apart. Tr. 205-206.

PEABODY' S W TNESSES

Saf ety Manager Paul Sparks confirmed that prior to
July 1991, the mine had experienced an unusually |arge nunmber of roof falls in
the southwest main entries, although, at that time, the roof falls were
concentrated in an area outby the No. 2 Unit.

4(...conti nued)

4The terns "washout" and "bow " were used to described the sane genera
area. See Tr. 198, 202. The Dictionary of Mning Mneral and Rel ated Terns
defines "washout", inter alia, as "[b]arren, thin, or junbled areas in coa
seans." U.S. Departnent of the Interior, DMMRT (1968) 1217.
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Tr. 213; See Exh. 10 (area circled in green). He testified that this
i ncrease in the number of roof falls was first noticed in May. Tr. 243.
Sparks stated that he had at |east one conversation with Inspector Gamin -- a
conversation at which M ne Superintendent Row an was present -- about the
possibility of using a different kind of roof bolt (a 5-foot, fully-grouted
bolt) to better control the roof. Sparks had agreed with Gamin that a 5-
foot, fully-grouted bolt would probably inprove control because it woul d keep
air and noisture for getting into the roof. However, according to Sparks,
Rowl ans was not able to approve a trial use of fully-grouted roof bolts
because Rowl ans' boss insisted on use of 6-foot, point anchor bolts. Sparks
stated that under npst circumnmstances, the point anchor bolt was regarded as
t he best roof bolt on the market. Tr. 214-215.

Sparks al so stated that m ne managenent knew that there was a problem
controlling the roof because of the "bow " effect, and he maintained that
managenment was trying different things to solve the problem Tr. 216.
Referring to a reported roof fall that had occurred on June 12 (G Exh. 8 at
4), Sparks explained that as a result of the fall, it was reconmended that, in
addition to addi ng extra roof support (roof bolts or tinmbers) to the area in
which the fall had occurred, Peabody arranged to have geol ogi sts exam ne the
area and advi se m ne managenent as to what was causing the roof to fall. Tr.
217, 245-246. The geol ogists cane in md-June and Sparks expl ai ned:

The geol ogi st ran conpaction tests on the area as far
as the i medi ate roof above the main roof. And we
found it took to water exceptionally nore that what
you really want it to . . . This roof was really
susceptible to water and it would expand once the

nmoi sture got to it, and once it expands, it has no

ot her choice but to fall

Tr. 218. To help alleviate the problem Sparks further explained, the
geol ogi sts suggested the roof bolt holes be sealed to prevent noisture-I|aden
air fromseeping into the roof and that the best way to acconplish this was to
use fully-grouted roof bolts. Peabody decided to install fully-grouted bolts
approximately one nonth after July 18. Tr. 221, 227-228. Once installed the
fully-grouted bolts resulted in, "a whole lot less falls mainly because [they]
did keep the air and water out."

Tr. 237.

According to Sparks, Peabody also installed truss bolts and tinbers
al ong the main and submain belt entries. Sparks stated that this was being
done during July in sone areas. Tr. 221-222. The trussing and tinbering was
in addition to the requirenents of the roof control plan. Tr. 223.
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Sparks al so stated that around the third week of June, Row ans told the
foremen of the No. 1 Unit that until mining advanced out from under the bad
top they were to narrow entries to 18 feet and they were to cut the entries 24
feet wi de when the continuous mning machi ne turned a crosscut. Tr. 256.
Spar ks added that Rowl ans had told the No. 2 Unit face foreman and section
foreman essentially the same thing the last week in June or the first week in

July. Tr. 224-225. |In addition, the foremen were told to put extra bolts in
the roof and truss it, if the roof required such nmeasures. Tr. 224,
Nonet hel ess, Sparks admitted that three separate roof fall injuries had

occurred after the instructions were given (one on July 9 and two on
July 11), all of which injuries he had reported to MSHA
Tr. 263, G Exh. 9.

Sparks testified that on July 18, while at the mine with the inspection
party, Rowl ans told MSHA roof control specialist Cunni ngham and MSHA r oof
control supervisor Dupree the things Peabody had done to try to better contro
the roof. "W talked to them about the geol ogi sts and what they had found as
far as the noisture and the roof . . . different things of that type." Tr.
230. As for the inplenentation of roof control procedures, Sparks stated that
some of the entries had been narrowed, but that sone had places that were "a
little wide." Tr. 231, See also Tr. 257. Also, Sparks was uncertai n whether
there had been any truss bolting on the No. 2 Unit. Tr. 234. As Sparks
expl ai ned, on July 18, the unit had only been in production approxi mately one
week and the m ners who worked on the unit had been laid off fromthe mne for
three, four or five years. Sparks explained, "W were getting back to nore or
Il ess a |l earning process which . . . it just takes you a little while to get
the feel of it again, especially as far as the miner or roof bolter or
anything." Tr. 231.

Wth regard to Cunningham's statenent on the citation form "that
Peabody is trying different steps to control the roof," (G Exh. 5),
Sparks nmaintained that it accurately reflected what MSHA under st ood Peabody
was doing. "[l]t's witten exactly the way it was. That's the reason they
gave us further tine to evaluate them" Tr. 236, See also Tr. 273. Sparks
stated that |nspector Cunni ngham was told about the steps Peabody had
undertaken before he went to the mine on July 18. Tr. 258. In addition
Sparks stated that when Cunni nghamissued the citation he had told Cunni ngham
that the specified renmedial steps already were taking place. Tr. 265.

Eugene Howard, face foreman on the No. 2 Unit, recalled that at some
point around the tine of the miners' vacation he was told to narrow the
entries and corners and to tighten the roof bolting
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pattern. Tr. 278.(Footnote 5) He stated that the No. 2 Unit had begun
production on July 8. Tr. 279. Howard also testified that he had instructed
his crewwith regard to these roof control procedures, but adnmitted that there
were tinmes when entries were cut too wi de and roof bolts were not properly
spaced. Tr. 284-285. "Nobody's perfect," he stated. Tr. 285. He was of the
opi nion that roof control procedures inproved on the No. 2 Unit as his crew
gai ned nore experience. |d. Howard agreed with Sparks that the citation, as
written by Inspector Cunningham contained procedures that Peabody had al ready
put into effect. Tr. 287.

THE VI OLATI ON
Section 75.202 states in pertinent part:

(a) The roof face and ribs of area where persons work or trave
shall be supported or otherwi se controlled to protect persons from
hazards related to falls of roof, face or ribs and coal or rock
bursts. (Foot note 6)

| ssues of liability for violations of this standard, and nore particularly,
for violations of the standard's requirenent that the roof and ribs be
supported or otherwi se controll ed adequately, are resolved by reference to
whet her a reasonably prudent person, famliar with the mning i ndustry and the
protective purpose of the standard, would have recogni zed that the subject
roof or ribs were not adequately supported or otherwi se controlled. Canon
Coal Co., 9 FMSHRC 667, 668

(April 1987); Quinland Coals, Inc., 9 FMSHRC 1614, 1617-18 (Septenber 1987);
See Sout hern Ohio Coal Co., 10 FMSHRC 138, 141 (February 1988). Put anot her
way, were the roof and ribs adequately supported and, if not, were there any
obj ective signs extant prior to July 18 that would or should have alerted a
reasonabl e prudent person to the danger of the inadequately supported roof in
the cited area of the mine? Because | find that the answer to the first
guestion is "No" and that the answer to the second is "Yes", | conclude the
Secretary has established the existence of the violation.

S5Howard testified the mners' vacation was the |ast week of June or first week
of July. Tr. 225.

6There are two subsections of Section 75.202. Subsection (b) prohibits
persons fromworking or traveling under unsupported roof. The subject
citation does not specify which subsection was allegedly violated. However
as Counsel for Peabody notes, no evidence was offered concerning work or
travel under unsupported roof. Peabody Br. 10. Cearly, the alleged
violation pertains to Section 75.202(a).
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I nspect or Cunni ngham ci ted Peabody for "failing to control the roof to
protect persons from hazards related to falls of the roof." G Exh. 5. On
July 18, the date he issued the subject citation, mning was taking place in
the No. 2 Unit, and, as his testinony indicated and as Paul Sparks essentially
agr eed
(Tr. 212-214, 216), the area being mned was well within the "bow," the area
of faulty roof that was subject to nore than ordinary instability and chance
of fall.

Peabody argues that it was not given fair notice of the requirenents of
the standard. See Peabody Br. 10-12. However, given the unanmbi guous mandate
of the standard that the roof,
face and ri bs of areas where persons work or travel be supported to protect
t hose persons from hazards related to roof falls and the backdrop agai nst
which the citation was issued -- a backdrop of prior reported roof falls,
reported mnor injuries due to those falls and a geographic area nmarked by
unusual |y unstable roof -- | cannot find that a reasonably prudent person
famliar with mining industry and the goal of the standard to protect miners
fromroof fall injuries would have failed to recognized the hazardous nature
of the roof and the resulting requirenent to consistently inplement steps to
provi de adequate roof support. Indeed, and as Peabody's wi tnesses attest,
Peabody itself fully recognized by md-June the hazard to mners presented by
the increasing nunber of roof falls in the "bow" area and deci ded to seek the
opi nion of experts about the problem Tr. 221. This lead to a recommendation
that fully-grouts roof bolts be used, a recomendati on that Peabody did not
adopt until approxi mately m d-August. Id.

Further, | credit Paul Sparks testinony that Row ans was aware of the
hazardous nature of the roof and told the foremen to narrow the entries to 18
feet and, where crosscuts were turned, to take 24 feet rather than 28 feet of
coal . Tr. 225.
| also credit his testinobny that Row ans told the foreman to tighten the
bolting pattern. Tr. 256.(Footnote 7) Further, | credit his testinony that
the supervisors on the No. 2 Unit were told to install truss bolts as needed.
Tr. 234. Howard, a foreman on the No. 2 Unit confirnmed that Row ans
instructed himregarding the steps to take to better control the roof and
"al ways" asked himif he were follow ng these instructions. Tr. 288.

t herefore conclude that Peabody recognized the hazardous nature of the roof on
the No. 2 Unit and the resulting requirenment to consistently inplement steps
to provi de adequate roof support.

7These instructions were given to the foremen of the No. 1 Unit and No.2 Unit.
While the subject citation pertains to the No. 2 Unit, the roof conditions
were essentially the sane on both units. Sparks agreed that both units
referred to the same general area of the mine, Tr. 254, and as al ready noted,
the roof conditions caused by the "bowl " prevailed for both units.
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Peabody's problem with conpliance lay not in recognizing the hazard but
in remedying it. The day before the subject violation was issued Gamin
testified that he cited Peabody for instances where the width of the entries
and the bolting pattern did not conformto the requirenents of the roof
control plan. Peabody did not contest these citations. Thus, Peabody was not
consistently complying with its plan, let alone with the additional neasures
that were necessary for adequate roof control when mining in the "bow" area.

VWhen the subject citation was issued mining was continuing in the"bow"
area, and Cunni nghamtestified that he found | oose shale falling out between
bolts, wi de places being mned and bolt spacing that was too wide and in
excess of the approved roof control plan. Tr. 131-132. | credit this
testinony. Further, Cunningham s testinmony was essentially unrefuted that he
tried to find recently cut entries that were 18 feet across and intersections
that were cut less than the plan required and that he could not renmenber
finding any. Cunningham s testinony is given added credence by the statenents
of Howard, Peabody's foreman on the No. 2 Unit, who candidly described his
probl ems getting the No. 2 Unit crewto conply with Row ans instructions
regardi ng the roof control measures that they were to carry out. Tr. 284-285.
In addition to Cunningham s testinony, | note Dupree's statement that on June
18, he hel ped Cunni ngham nmeasure the entries and that some exceeded the wi dth
all onwed by the plan. Thus, there is anple evidence to establish that Peabody
consistently failed to inplenent those extra-plan neasures, such as further
narrowi ng the entries and tightening the roof bolting pattern, that all agreed
were necessary given the prevailing roof conditions.

I conclude, therefore, the Secretary has established that on July 18,
1991 and as alleged in Citation No. 3551088 Peabody viol ated Section 75.202.

GRAVI TY AND NEGLI GENCE

The sol e i ssue contested by Peabody is the existence of the violation.
I nspector Cunni nghamtestified that he believed Peabody's failure to contro
the roof on the No. 2 Unit so as to protect persons fromthe dangers of roof
falls subjected miners on the unit to injuries fromfalling | oose roof,
injuries that could range from mnor to fatal. Tr. 171. Having found that
the violation existed, | fully credit the inspector's opinion and concl ude
that it was a very serious violation.(Footnote 8)
8As previously noted, the inspector also designated the violation as S&S
Peabody does not dispute this finding.
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Peabody's own witnesses testified that for a considerable time before it
was cited Peabody was well aware of the potentially hazardous roof conditions
in the subject area. Moreover, Foreman Howard knew he had a "rusty" crew
under his command on the No. 2 Unit, know edge that warranted increased
diligence to insure conpliance, diligence the violation belies. | find
therefore that Peabody negligently failed to control the roof to protect
persons on the No. 2 Unit fromthe hazard of roof falls.

CIVIL PENALTY

The Secretary proposed a civil penalty of $74, which | consider
i nadequate in view of the very serious nature of the violation, Peabody's
negl i gence and Peabody's stipulated | arge size. Rather, | conclude that a
civil penalty of $500 is appropriate, and in so doing | take into account
Peabody's stipulated history of prior violations and rapid, good faith
abat enent of the subject violation. Wile both are comendabl e, they do not
conpensate for the gravity of the violation and Peabody's negligence. Roof
control is, after all, of singular inportance in protecting the safety of
under ground coal mi ners.

KENT 92- 65
M ne Act
Secti on Citation No. Dat e 30 CF.R
Section 104(a) 3416937 08/ 07/ 91 50. 10

STI PULATI ONS
At the hearing the parties stipulated as follows:

1. The Martwi ck M ne, annually produces onemllion five
hundred ninety thousand (1, 590,000) tonsof coal

2. The Martwick M ne has an effect on interstate
commerce, as that termis used in the Mne Act;

3. The Commi ssion has jurisdiction to hear and deci de
t he case;
4, During the 24 nonths imediately prior to the

subj ect violation there were 195 assessed viol ati onsduri ng
the course of 388 inspection days.

See Tr. 5.
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DI SCUSSI ON

The citation at issue arose out of an inspection of the Martwi ck M ne
conduct ed by MSHA | nspector Lendell Noffsinger on August 7, 1991. During the
course of the inspection, Noffsinger determ ned that Peabody had failed to
report a roof fall as required by 30 C.F. R 0 50.10. (Footnote 9) He further
deternmined that an injury was unlikely to result fromthe violation and that
if an injury did occur it would not result in | ost workdays. He also
concl uded that the violation was not S&S and that Peabody was noderately
negligent in failing to report the roof fall. Subsequently, the Secretary
proposed a $20 civil penalty for the alleged violation

The citation states in relevant part:

A roof fall has occurred in the No. 1 intake on the
No. 1 Unit . . . two crosscuts inby spad No. 4918.
The fall occurred either on June 4 or June 5, 1991
tinmbers were set on the 2nd shift June 5, 1991. The
fall was not inmediately reported to MSHA

G Exh. 1(Footnote 10) Peabody's position is that the violation did not in
fact occur. The sole issue is whether the roof fall took place in an area
where miners are normally required to work or travel and thus whether the roof
fall was reportable.

9 30 CF.R 0O50.10 states in part:

If an accident occurs, an operator shall imrediately contact the
MSHA Di strict or Subdistrict Ofice having jurisdiction over its mne

30 CF.R [0O50.2(h)(8) defines an "accident" as:

An unpl anned roof fall at or above the anchorage zone in active
wor ki ngs where roof bolts are in use.

30 CF.R 0O 75.2 defines "Active workings" as:

[Alny place in a coal mine where miners are normally required to
wor k or travel.
Iﬁﬂﬁ??grﬁger testified that he erred in witing June 4 and June 5, 1991, that
he had neant to wite August 4 and August 5, 1991. Tr. 11-12, 25.
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THE TESTI MONY
THE SECRETARY' S W TNESS

Nof f si nger stated that during the course of the August 7
i nspection of the Martwick M ne he was asked by a m ner whether Peabody had
reported a recent roof fall. \Wen Noffsinger responded "No," Noffsinger was
asked to ook at the area where the fall had occurred. Noffsinger viewed the
area and, because the roof fall had not been reported, issued the subject
citation. Tr. 12.

Nof f si nger stated that he observed the area of the roof fall with Bob
Gray, an MsSHA trai nee who acconpani ed Nof fsinger on the inspection. On the
floor of the area he saw roof bolts and fallen roof. He also saw a few 9-f oot
roof bolts that remained in the roof but the roof had fallen out from around
these bolts. Tr. 13, 27. Noffsinger stated that the area around the fall had
been tinbered in accordance with usual practice to keep the fall area from
spreading. Tr. 21-22, 23-29.

Nof f si nger gave varyi ng reasons why he believed the roof fall should
have been reported. He stated an unplanned roof fall at or above the anchor
zone of the roof bolts and in active workings had to be reported, and he
recited the regulatory definition of active workings -- any place in a coa
m ne where mners are normally required to work or travel. Tr. 13, 20.

Nof f si nger agreed that the tinbers were installed after the roof fall and that
such tinbering around falls is a one-tine activity, but Noffsinger testified
that he based his determination that the fall had occurred in "active
wor ki ngs" on the fact that the tinbers had been set. Tr. 31

Nof f si nger al so stated if the tinbering had not taken place, he stil
woul d have considered the roof fall to have occurred in active workings and
thus to be reportable. He explained that the entry in which the fall had
occurred was ventilated by intake air and that he had spoken with his
supervi sor, Joe Parks, and with MSHA roof control supervisor, Bill Dupree,
before visiting the area of the fall and they had indicated that where there
are two entries ventilated by intake air, miners would normally travel in one
of the entries. Tr. 36. Thus, he believed the cited area to have constituted
"active workings," he stated, "because they [neaning his two supervisors] said
it was active workings."

Tr. 37.

Nof f si nger al so stated that he understood the definition of "active
wor ki ngs" to nmean that an area constitutes "active workings if any work is
ever done in an area or anyone ever travels through the area". Tr. 32.



~1853

Final 'y Noffsinger stated that for himnot to have considered the area
where the fall occurred to be active workings, the area would have had to be
an abandoned area and to have been sealed off so that people could not
physically get to it. Tr. 41.

PEABODY' S W TNESS

Steven Little, Safety Supervisor at the Martwick Mne, testified on
Peabody's behalf. Little identified Peabody's Exhibit R 1 as a map that
essentially depicts the panel where the roof fall had occurred. As described
by Little, at the time of the fall there were five entries on the panel. Men
and materials reached the face area via the supply entry. Coal was mned at
the faces, taken to the dunping point, transferred to a belt and renoved from
the mne via the belt entry. The supply and belt entries were i medi ately
adj acent to one another and contained neutral air. When facing inby there was
a tinmbered return entry to the inmediate left of the supply entry. The return
air inthis entry was kept separate fromthe neutral air of the supply entry
by permanent concrete bl ock stoppings. Wen facing inby and to the inmediate
right of the belt entry there was a tinbered entry that served as an
escapeway. The intake air in this entry was kept separate fromthe neutra
air of the belt entry by permanent concrete block stoppings. Wen facing inby
and to the imediate right of the intake escapeway was another tinbered intake
entry. There were no stoppings separating these two intake entries. Tr. 48-
52, 61-62, See Exh. R-1. Little maintained the intake escapeway was required
to be exami ned on a weekly basis but that the adjacent intake entry -- the
entry in which the roof fall occurred -- was not required to be exam ned on a
periodic basis and, in fact, was never required to be exam ned. Tr. 54-55.

Littl e acknow edged that once a roof fall occurs an operator is required
to support the area, if necessary, by setting tinbers and that once tinbers
have been set miners do not normally return to work on them Tr. 56. He
i ndicated that miners working on an unit would normally work and travel in the
area where coal was mned, an area away fromthe fall area, and that no other
enpl oyees at the Martwick Mne would ordinarily and on a routine basis trave
through the entry where the rock fall had occurred.

Tr. 58, See Exh. R-1.

During cross-exam nation, Little stated that in all [Iikelihood on August
5, the section foreman found the roof fall and that to do so he would have had
to be at |least adjacent to the fall, but Little would not say that the foreman

had gone into the area where the fall occurred. Little acknow edge that the
regul ations in Part 75 require the weekly exam nation of an intake air course,
but because the regulations require that at | east one entry of each intake air
course be exam ned and
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mai nt ai ned Peabody had al ways examined the intake entry adjacent to the one in
which the fall occurred. Tr. 62-63. When asked whether the intake entry

where the fall occurred is ever traveled, Little responded "No." Wen pressed
with "Never?", Little stated, "I can't say absolutely never, but it's not
regularly or normally traveled.” Tr. 63. Little acknow edged that follow ng

the fall no barricades were erected or signs posted to prevent travel in the
area where the fall had occurred, but he nmaintained that any travel there
woul d have been inadvertent. Tr. 69. Taylor explained, "There's no way we
can continuously and constantly be with all the enployees in the mne to be
sure that no one ever steps over there, but as a general practice of nining,
[the fall area is] not normally or ordinarily traveled or worked in." 1d.

Finally, Little stated his opinion that the area where the fall had
occurred was not a "working face", "working place", "working section” nor an
"abandoned area", as those terns are defined in 30 CF.R 0O 75.2. Tr. 63-65.

THE VI OLATI ON

The Secretary bears the burden of proving that the alleged violation
existed. In order to determ ne whether the Secretary has nmet that burden, it
is appropriate to first analyze the wording of the pertinent regul ations at
issue, for it is this |anguage that inposes the mandatory requirenments with
whi ch an operator nust conply. Here, the applicable |anguage i s unambi guous.
Section 50.10 requires an operator to i mmedi ately contact the MSHA District or
Subdi strict office "[i]f an accident occurs."” As has been previously noted,
the neaning of "accident" is defined in pertinent part as "[a]n unplanned roof
fall at or above the anchorage zone in active workings where roof bolts are in
use." There is no dispute that the roof fall occurring on August 4 or August
5, 1991, was "at or above the anchorage zone where roof bolts [were] in use"
and that Peabody did not "imediately contact the MSHA District or Subdistrict
O fice" when the fall occurred. The question is whether the fall occurred in
"active workings"?

Section 75.2(g)(4) of the regulations, consistent with Section 318(g) (4)
of the Act, 30 U.S.C. O 878 (a)(4), defines "active workings" as "any place in
a coal mne where miners are normally required to work or travel." Boiled
down to its sinplest terns, the question is whether the Secretary proved that
mners are "normally required to work or travel" where the roof fall occurred?
I conclude that she did not.

The Secretary chose to prove the violation solely trough the testinony
of Inspector Noffsinger. It is clear to ne that he was confused as to why he
found a violation of Section 50.20. Initially, he stated that he had issued
the citation because
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Peabody personnel had set tinbers around the fall area. Tr. 31. He explained
this line of reasoning by indicating that if any work is ever done in an area
or if anyone ever travels through

an area, the area constitutes active workings. The problem

with this interpretation of "active workings"” is that

Section 75.2(g)(4) does not state that "active workings" are any place where
mners are ever required to work or travel, but rather that "active workings"
are where mners are nornmally required to work or travel. By nodifying the
requi renment for work or travel with the adverb "normally," the Secretary in
promul gating the regul ati on signaled that "active workings" are those places
where miners are required constantly or periodically or with a certain degree

of frequency to work or travel. The record in this case sinply will not
support a finding that mners constantly, periodically or with any degree of
frequency worked or traveled in the area where the fall occurred. |ndeed, the

evidence is quite to the contrary.

I nspector Noffsinger testified that tinbering around falls is usually a
one-time activity. Tr. 31. Safety Director Little agreed, stating that once
such tinmbers are set mners do not return to work on them Tr. 56. Mbreover,
Little's testinmony that mners working on the No. 1 Unit would usually work
and travel where coal was mined -- an area sonme distance for the entry in
which the roof fell -- and that no ot her Peabody enpl oyees would ordinarily or
on a routine basis pass through the roof fall area was essentially undisputed,
as was Little's opinion that weekly exam nations were not required for the
entry where the fall occurred and that the entry was never exam ned or
travel ed on a regular basis. Tr. 62-63. Further, although Little
acknow edged that it was likely the section foreman had found the fall
Little's statement that he could not say the foreman went into the subject
entry when he found it does not prove normal work or travel or provide a basis
from whi ch normal work or travel can be inferred.(Footnote 11)
11The Secretary argues that in order to ascertain that a roof fall occurred
the section foreman woul d have to have traveled in the area of the fall, but
Little's supposition that the foreman could have been in the entry adjacent to
the fall rather than in the entry in which it occurred seens nore reasonabl e.
It is hard to imagine the foreman putting hinself purposefully under an area
of roof that had fallen and whose edges had not yet been supported. O
course, as the Secretary notes, the foreman did not testify, and although the
Secretary requests that | be aware that the foreman "was conveni ently absent
fromthe hearing” (Sec. Br. 8), | can hardly draw an inference adverse to
Peabody from his absence since the Secretary herself did not initiate pre-
trial discovery regarding the foreman nor seek to conpel his testinony.
Perhaps it bears repeating that it is the Secretary's burden to prove the
al l eged violation, not the operator's.
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The Secretary argues that Little's opinion that the area was not a
"wor ki ng face," "working place," "working section" or "abandoned area" |eaves
active workings as the only way to define the area. Sec. Br. 6. As Peabody's
counsel notes, the problemwi th this argunent is that it assumes that such
definitions are intended to enconpass the entire mne. Peabody Br. 7. They
are not. Rather, | agree with Peabody's counsel that definitions are provided
for those terns that are used in the nandatory safety standards and which
require definition. The definitions are not intended to provide an exhaustive
classification of all areas of the mne, which | eads back to the issue at hand
-- whether, on the basis of this record, the Secretary proved that the roof
fall occurred where miners normally are required to work or travel? For the
reasons stated above, | find that she did not.(Footnote 12)

ORDER

In light of nmy approval of the proposed settlenents and ny concl usi ons
regardi ng the contested violations, | enter the follow ng order

KENT 92-42

Peabody is ordered to pay a civil penalty of $20 for the violation of
Section 75.316 cited in Citation No. 3548678. Peabody also is ordered to pay
a civil penalty of $500 for the violation of Section 75.202 cited in Citation
No. 3551088.

KENT 92-56

Peabody is ordered to pay a civil penalty of $227 for the violation of
Section 75.507 cited in Citation No. 3551054. The Secretary is ordered to
nodi fy Citation No. 3551054 by deleting the inspector's S&S finding.

KENT 92- 65

Peabody is ordered to pay a civil penalty of $192 for the violation of
Section 75.1710-1 cited in Citation No. 3416929, and the Secretary is ordered
to modify the citation by deleting the inspector's S&S finding. Peabody is
al so ordered to pay a civil penalty of $126 for the violation of Section
75.1107-16(b) cited
12The Secretary also asserts that pursuant to 30 CF. R 0O 75.402 and
30 CF.R 0O 75.403 Peabody enpl oyees would have had to travel into the entry
where the fall occurred to ascertain the inconbustible content of rock dust
that regulations require to be applied and nmaintained. Sec. Br. 7.

Regardl ess of its hypothetical nmerits, this argunment has no support in the
record. Not one word of testinony or docunentary evi dence was offered
regarding it.
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Citation No. 3548484, and the Secretary is ordered to nodify the citation by
deleting the inspector's S&S finding. Finally, the Secretary is ordered to
vacate Citation No. 3416937.

Peabody shall pay the civil penalties and the Secretary shall nodify and
vacate the referenced citations within thirty (30) days of the date of this
Deci si on and, upon receipt of paynment, these matters are dismn ssed.

David F. Barbour
Adm ni strative Law Judge
(703) 756-5232

Di stri bution:

WF. Taylor, Esq., Ofice of the Solicitor, U S. Departnment of Labor, 2002
Ri chard Jones Road, Suite B-201, Nashville, TN 37215 (Certified Mail)

Davi d Joest, Esq., Peabody Coal Conpany, 1951 Barrett Court, P.O Box 1990,
Hender son, KY 42420-1990
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